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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
Plaintiff, ;
V. 3 Civil Action No.
THOMAS AND AMY VILLEGAS, 3
Detfendants. ;
)
COMPLAINT

The United States of America (“Plaintiff”), through its undersigned attorneys, by
authority of the Attorney General, and at the request of the Administrator of the United States
Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”), alleges, upon its best information and belief, as
follows:

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. This is a civil action commenced under sections 309(b) and (d) of the Clean
Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b) and (d). The United States is seeking injunctive relief
and civil penalties against Thomas and Amy Villegas (the “Villegases” or “Defendants”) for the
discharge of pollutants into the waters of the United States at their property in Section 13,
Township 12 North, Range 28 West and Section 18, Township 12 North, Range 27 West in
Lincoln County, Nebraska (the “Site””), without authorization by the United States Department of
Army Corps of Engineers, in violation of CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).

2. Plaintiff seeks to: (1) enjoin the discharge of pollutants into waters of the United
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States without a permit in violation of CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a); and (2) require
Defendants, at their own expense and with oversight from EPA, to restore and/or mitigate the

damages caused by its unlawful activities.

JURISDICTION, VENUE, NOTICE AND AUTHORITY

3. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter over the claims in this
Complaint pursuant to CWA sections 309(b), 33 U.S.C. §§ 1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331,
1345 and 1355.

4. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Colorado
pursuant to CWA sections 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), and 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) and (c),
because the Defendants reside in this District.

5. Notice of the commencement of this action has been provided to the State of
Nebraska pursuant to CWA section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b).

THE PARTIES

6. The Plaintiff in this action is the United States of America. Authority to bring this
case is vested in the United States Department of Justice pursuant to CWA section 506, 33
U.S.C. § 1366, and 28 U.S.C. §§ 516 and 519.

7. Defendants Thomas and Amy Villegas are persons who reside at 25599 WCR 4,
Hudson, Colorado 80642.

8. Defendants are persons within the meaning of CWA section 502(5), 33 U.S.C. §
1362(5).

0. Thomas Villegas owns a company incorporated in Colorado, Colorado Siteworks,

that offers services including excavation, site grading, and backfill.
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STATUTORY AUTHORITY

10.  The Clean Water Act is designed to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical
and biological integrity of the Nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).

11. CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), prohibits the discharge of pollutants
into navigable waters except in compliance with, inter alia, a permit issued pursuant to CWA
section 404, 33 U.S.C. § 1344.

12. CWA section 404(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1344(a), authorizes the Secretary of the Army,
acting through the Chief of Engineers, to issue permits for the discharge of dredged or fill
material into navigable waters at specified disposal sites, after notice and opportunity for public
comment.

13. CWA section 502(12), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(12), defines “discharge of a pollutant” to
include “any addition of any pollutant to navigable waters from any point source.”

14. CWA section 502(6), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(6), defines “pollutant” to include, inter
alia, solid waste, chemical wastes, wrecked or discarded equipment, dredged spoil, rock, sand
and cellar dirt.

15. CWA section 502(7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), defines “navigable waters” as “the
waters of the United States, including the territorial seas.”

16. 33 C.F.R. § 328.4(c) (1993) states that the United States’ regulatory jurisdiction
over “waters of the United States” for non-tidal waters, which includes rivers, “extends to the
ordinary high water mark [(‘OHWM”)].”

17. CWA section 502(14), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14), defines “point source” to include
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“any discernible, confined and discrete conveyance, including but not limited to any pipe, ditch,
channel, tunnel, conduit, well, discrete fissure, container . . . from which pollutants are or may be
discharged.”

18. CWA section 309(b), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), authorizes the commencement of a
civil action for appropriate relief, including a permanent or temporary injunction, against any
person who violates CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a).

19. CWA section 309(d), 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d), authorizes the commencement of an
action for civil penalties against any person who violates CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. §
1311(a).

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

20.  Amy Villegas owns two of the three parcels that comprise the Site. Colorado
Siteworks owns the remaining parcel.

21. The Site includes a portion of the Platte River as well as relatively permanent
tributaries to the Platte and adjacent wetlands.

22.  Based on information and belief, in or around June 2017 through May 2021,
Defendants and/or persons acting on their behalf used earth moving equipment to excavate and
clear vegetation from adjacent wetlands, widen existing tributaries, create ponded areas,
construct roadways, create culverted road crossings, and construct berms at the Site.

23.  In performing these activities, Defendants and/or persons acting on their behalf
discharged dredged or fill material including dirt, spoil, rock, culverts, trees, and sand into waters
of the United States including relatively permanent tributaries to the Platte River and wetlands

adjacent to those tributaries.
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24. The Platte River is a traditionally navigable water in reaches upstream and
downstream of the Site. At the Site, the Platte River is a relatively permanent tributary of the
Missouri River, a traditional navigable water.

25. The Platte River at the Site constitutes a “water[] of the United States” under
CWA section 502(7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

26.  Defendants discharged dredged or fill material into relatively permanent
tributaries of the Platte River, which also constitute “waters of the United States” under CWA
section 502(7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

27.  Defendants discharged dredged or fill material into wetlands with a continuous

surface connection to relatively permanent tributaries of the Platte River, which tributaries are

“waters of the United States,” under CWA section 502(7), 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7), which makes the

wetlands themselves “waters of the United States,” under CWA section 502(7), 33 U.S.C.
§ 1362(7).

CLAIM FOR RELIEF

CWA Section 301 and 404: Unauthorized Discharge of Dredged or Fill Material into Waters of

the United States

28.  Plaintiff repeats and realleges the allegations set forth in Paragraphs 1 through 27.

29. Through the activities described above, Defendants and/or persons acting on their
behalf discharged dredged or fill material into waters of the United States.

30. The dredged or fill material discharged includes, among other things, dirt, rock,
and sand, all of which constitute “pollutants” as defined in CWA section 502(6), 33 U.S.C.

§ 1362(6).
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31. Defendants and/or persons acting on their behalf used mechanized land-clearing
and earth-moving equipment that resulted in the discharges. This equipment constitutes “point
source[s]” as defined in section 502(14) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).

32.  Defendants have discharged pollutants from various point sources into waters of
the United States, within the meaning of section 502(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1362(7).

33.  Defendants did not obtain a permit from the Secretary of the Army, acting through
the Chief of Engineers, for the discharges of dredged and/or fill material into waters of the United
States, as required by CWA sections 301(a) and 404, 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1344.

34, Defendants have violated and continue to violate CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C.

§ 1311(a), by their unauthorized discharges of pollutants, specifically dredged and/or fill material,
into waters of the United States.

35. Defendants are liable for civil penalties for each day in violation of CWA section
301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a), in an amount determined by CWA section 309(d), 33 U.S.C.
§1319(d), as adjusted by the Federal Civil Penalties Inflation Adjustment Act of 2015, and its
implementing regulations.

36.  Unless enjoined, Defendants’ discharges are likely to continue to remain in waters
of the United States, in violation of CWA section 301, 33 U.S.C. § 1311.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, the United States of America, respectfully requests that this

Court order the following relief:
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1. That Defendants be permanently enjoined from discharging or causing the
discharge of dredged and/or fill material or other pollutants into waters of the United States at the
Site except in compliance with the CWA;

2. That Defendants be ordered to undertake measures, at their own expense and with
oversight from the Environmental Protection Agency, to effect complete restoration of the waters
of the United States at the Site and/or to conduct off-site mitigation for irreversible
environmental damage, as appropriate;

3. That Defendants be assessed a civil penalty pursuant to CWA section 309(d), 33
U.S.C. § 1319(d), for violations of CWA section 301(a), 33 U.S.C. § 1311(a);

4, That the United States be awarded costs and disbursements in this case; and

5. That this Court grant Plaintiff, the United States of America, such other relief as

the Court may deem just and proper.

Dated: April 10, 2024 Respectfully submitted,
Todd Kim
Assistant Attorney General
OF COUNSEL: Environment & Natural Resources Division

s/ Phillip R. Dupré

Natasha Goss Phillip R. Dupré, TX Bar # 24069650
U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Environmental Defense Section
Region 7 P.O. Box 7611

11201 Renner Boulevard Washington, D.C. 20044

Lenexa, KS 66219 Phone: (202) 598-9530

Phone: (913) 551-7752 Email: phillip.r.dupre@usdoj.gov

Email: goss.natasha@epa.gov
ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF
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